Surviving urbanisation and agricultural intensification: A review of the threats for farmland and urban birds in human-modified landscapes in the Netherlands

Lisa Rose Haaksma¹⊠, Rienk Fokkema¹ and Theunis Piersma¹ ¹GELIFES, University of Groningen, The Netherlands ⊠ L.r.haaksma.1@student.rug.nl

Date of submission: 08 February 2022

ABSTRACT

- (1) Birds hold a key place in the functioning of ecosystems worldwide; they play vital roles in controlling pests, act as plant pollinators, spread seeds, contribute to nutrient cycling and soil formation, and provide important opportunities for people to connect with nature. Unfortunately, increasing urbanization, agricultural intensification and industrialization by the ever-expanding human population is now taking a heavy toll on bird populations. Dwindling bird numbers and varieties can negatively impact human health, economy and food production, so conserving the avian community is of key importance. Understanding how birds are impacted by human-induced rapid environment changes (HIREC) can help policymakers, urban planners and farmers to better protect birds to maintain the beneficial ecosystem services they provide.
- (2) In this literature thesis, we provided an in-depth overview of the current knowledge regarding the ways in which urbanisation and agricultural intensification can impact the breeding success and adult survival of avian wildlife inhabiting human-modified habitats, focussing on the case example of the Netherlands; the most densely populated country in the European Union and the second-largest agricultural exporter in the world.
- (3) We found that human impacts, such as land-use change (drainage, ploughing, intensive mechanical grass cutting, reseeding with grass monocultures), the use of chemical pesticides and fertilizers, the introduction of invasive plant and predator species, plastic pollution, and the increase in man-made structures can have clear negative effects on a birds' reproductive success and survival through many different direct and indirect processes that are intertwined. Taken together, these effects are a prime suspect as to why more and more Dutch breeding birds are classified on the IUCN red list of threatened species.
- (4) After a series of unsuccessful conservation measures, the Dutch government recently adopted the 'grutto aanvalsplan' [godwit battle plan] which aims at restoring biodiversity in the agricultural environment by transitioning to a nature-inclusive approach. Hopefully other countries can learn from the mistakes that the Netherlands made, which are outlined in this essay, and also the solutions it is now trying out by governing the transformation towards 'nature-inclusive' agriculture early on.

Key-words: conservation biology, agricultural intensification, urbanisation, the Netherlands, HIREC, environmental pollution, predation, habitat fragmentation, insect decline, farmland birds, urban birds

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	. 3
2. HOW DO URBANISATION AND AGRICULTURAL INTENSIFICATION AFFECT BIRD BREEDING SUCCESS AND SURVIVAL?	. 5
I. The loss of suitable nest sites in the agricultural and urban environment	. 5
a. Homogenisation of farmland	. 5
b. Low-diversity of vegetation layers in urban environments	. 5
c. Building modernisation	. 6
II. The mechanisation of grass cutting and advancement of mowing	. 6
a. Nest destruction by mowing machinery	. 6
b. Direct adult mortality and skewed sex-ratios	. 7
III. The decline in food availability and accessibility	. 7
a. Food declines for farmland birds	. 7
b. Food declines for urban birds	. 8
IV. The pollution of habitats	. 8
a. Pesticides	. 8
b. Plastic waste	. 9
c. Artificial light at night	. 9
d. Noise pollution	10
V. The impact of man-made structures	10
a. Lethal collision events	10
b. Lower predator visibility	11
VI. The fragmentation of suitable habitat	12
a. Limited food resources	12
b. Increased predation risks	12
VII. Changes in the mammalian predator community	13
a. Native predatory species	13
b. Invasive predatory species	14
3. THE WAY FORWARD	15
4. BIBLIOGRAPHY	17

1. INTRODUCTION

For millions of years birds were thriving, they survived an asteroid strike, multiple ice ages and numerous natural disasters. But increasing urbanization, agricultural intensification and industrialization by the ever-expanding human population is now taking a heavy toll over a, in geological terms, very short time. The question is whether bird species can adapt to such humaninduced rapid environment changes (HIREC) and what measures can be taken to preserve biodiversity? A key case example of a country undergoing major landscape and ecological changes is the Netherlands. Especially since the second world war, as the Netherlands has industrialized and the Dutch population increased from 9.4 to more than 17.4 million people, the landscapes have changed drastically (Herzog et al. 2006, CBS Statline 2021). Across the whole country, vast areas of native vegetation have been cleared to be replaced by cities, farms and infrastructure. Large continuous habitats became divided into many small fragments isolated from each other by pavement, buildings, cropland, waterbodies or pasture. The expansion of cities and infrastructures resulted in a 30% decrease in grassland from 1.32 million ha in 1950 to 0.93 million ha in 2013 (Roodbergen and Teunissen, 2014). Moreover, there has been an eightfold increase in the proportion of nonpermanent grassland since 1950 (Roodbergen and Teunissen, 2014). Agricultural practices have also experienced a major revolution: livestock densities increased, grass is mowed earlier and more frequently, groundwater levels are lowered and soils are injected with chemical fertilisers and sprayed with pesticides to increase the productivity of cultivated crops (Herzog et al., 2006; Silva-Monteiro et al., 2021). Nowadays, the Netherlands has become the second-largest agriculture exporter in the world (Jukema et al., 2020). Taken together, these human activities are putting the survival of birds depending on these habitats at risk.

In the early 1960s, when the intensity of farmers' activities was still low in the Netherlands and urban areas just started to expand, many birds were surprisingly successful in adapting to the anthropogenic landscape changes and some population numbers increased as a cause of it. Holenesting species such as the house sparrow (Passer domesticus) and common starling (Sturnus vulgaris) started occupying novel nest sites in eaves of houses and the widespread availability of nest sites on roofs resulted in dramatic population increases of urban gulls (Soldatini et al., 2008; Mainwaring, 2015). In agricultural landscapes, farmers started removing bushes and trees and they put cattle on the land for grazing. The resulting openness of landscapes and shorter pasture turned out to be beneficial for ground-nesting species and over the first half of the twentieth-century population sizes of many meadow birds increased (Silva-Monteiro et al., 2021). But as the years went by, the Dutch landscape became more and more urbanized and agricultural practices intensified to such an extent that birds could no longer keep up with the rapid changes (Van Der Vliet et al., 2010). To date, eleven out of twenty breeding bird species typically found in Dutch urban environments are declining. The crested lark (Galerida cristata) and European serin (Serinus serinus) are particularly at risk as they are placed on the 'IUCN red list of threatened species' under respectively 'critically endangered' and 'endangered' (IUCN, 2016). Farmland birds are doing even worse; 21 out of the 27 representative Dutch farmland species are showing significant population declines (CBS statline, 2021b). Among them, the black-tailed godwit (Limosa I. limosa), grey partridge (Perdix perdix) and the Eurasian tree sparrow (Passer montanus) are showing the most substantial population decreases (CBS statline, 2021b). Since the year 2000, the overall meadow bird population in the Netherlands declined by a third making it one of the steepest declines on the whole European continent (Silva-Monteiro et al., 2021).

The sharp population declines, in increasingly urbanized and agriculturally intensified areas such as the case example here of the Netherlands, are alarming as birds play an essential role in the functioning of all ecosystems in the world and they have a direct impact on our health, economy and food production (Sekercioglu, 2006; Whelan et al., 2008). Birds can provide regulating services such as the dispersal of seeds and the pollination of plants, and insectivorous birds can play a key role in the provisioning of natural pest control services (Milligan et al., 2016; García et al., 2018). In the Netherlands, the infestation of the harmful oak processionary caterpillars was locally reduced by 85% in four municipalities that had adopted biological pest control services by birds (Hellingman and van Vliet, 2020). Besides these regulating services, birds also contribute to nutrient cycling, ecosystem engineering and soil formation (supporting services)(Whelan et al., 2008). Finally, birds provide important opportunities for people to connect with nature and they play prominent roles in art, culture, religion and leisure activities; Drawings of birds are depicted on traditional Delft blue porcelain, and Dutch folklore tells tales of how one clever wren became king of the birds after winning a flying contest by secretly sitting on the back of an eagle (Sinninghe, 1978; Sekercioglu, 2006; Soga and Gaston, 2016).

Understanding how human development can impact bird populations and ultimately avian biodiversity and composition can help policymakers, urban planners and farmers to better protect birds to promote the beneficial ecosystem services they provide. In this literature thesis, we will provide an in-depth overview of the current knowledge regarding the ways in which urbanisation and agricultural intensification can impact the breeding success and survival of avian wildlife inhabiting human-modified habitats, focussing on the case example of the Netherlands. Figure 1 provides a schematic overview of the main human-driven processes that will be discussed in this review. The focus of this essay lies on birds inhabiting agricultural and (sub)urban areas specifically because the largest part of the land surface of the Netherlands consists of these heavily-modified habitats. After reviewing the threats, we discuss the currently available management strategies of the Dutch government for addressing these issues and suggest some affordable conservation measures that can be easily implied by both farmers and citizens to promote their local bird biodiversity.



Figure 1. Schematic overview of the human-driven processes in agricultural and (sub)urban habitats discussed in this literature review. The Latin numbers between the brackets refer to the corresponding chapters. The processes that are depicted in the first row can impact food availability, predation probability and nest-site availability both directly (\rightarrow) and indirectly (\rightarrow), and the processes in the last row can also interact (\rightarrow). Cumulatively, the processes can ultimately impact a birds' reproductive success and survival.

2. HOW DO URBANISATION AND AGRICULTURAL INTENSIFICATION AFFECT BIRD BREEDING SUCCESS AND SURVIVAL?

I. The loss of suitable nest sites in the agricultural and urban environment

In order to successfully reproduce within the breeding season, birds need to complete three phases: egg-laying, incubation and chick-rearing. For this, they need a suitable breeding site which offers everything they need. Over the past years, anthropogenic landscape changes have resulted in a decline of suitable nest sites for birds that breed in human-dominated ecosystems. Understanding how human activities are impacting nest-site availability of various bird species is important to formulate management guidelines.

a. Homogenisation of farmland

For birds that breed in agricultural landscapes, the structure of the vegetation is an important habitat requirement for nest-site selection as most farmland birds build their nest on the ground. In the first half of the 20th century, the Dutch agricultural landscapes consisted mainly of large, open wetlands with a rich mixture of grasses and flowers which were the product of traditional, low-intensity farming (Bos et al., 2013; Kentie et al., 2015). These flower-rich hay meadows provided important nesting habitats for ground-nesting species such as the black-tailed godwit, northern lapwing (Vanellus vanellus), and Eurasian skylark (Alauda arvensis), and they also provided food for seedeating and insectivorous birds in the spring-summer season (Newton, 2017). However, to improve the productivity of the grasslands, farmers started to intensify their agricultural practices (Onrust et al., 2019). They did so by lowering the groundwater tables of their fields through landscape-level drainage, ploughing and reseeding the parcels with more productive grasses and injecting the fields with slit and slurry to increase nutrient supply (Schekkerman and Beintema, 2007; Kleijn et al., 2010; Onrust et al., 2019). The wide variety of wild plants and flowers that were once present on these meadows could not compete with the fast-growing grasses and as a consequence, the species-rich wetlands were being replaced by monocultures with high-yielding grasses (Verhulst et al., 2007). These grassland transformations resulted in massive habitat losses for meadow bird species as the tall, dense and homogenous vegetation swards made many sites unsuitable for nesting (Chamberlain et al., 1999; Wilson et al., 2005; Verhulst et al., 2007).

b. Low-diversity of vegetation layers in urban environments

Besides the loss of nest sites in agricultural landscapes, urban birds increasingly also face a landscape with few nest sites to choose from. In urban landscapes, most people tend to prefer well-maintained and ordered green parks with plants and trees which are arranged in recognizable patterns (Carlson and Lintott, 2008; Page, 2016). To fulfil these wishes, dead or damaged trees are cut down, branches and shrubs are trimmed and ground cover is simplified (Marzluff and Ewing, 2001). What remains is a sterile habitat with a low diversity of horizontal and vertical vegetation layers (herb, shrub, understory, canopy). These non-diverse vegetation layers provide little nest coverage and offer a low availability of nest sites compared to habitats with a more diverse vegetative structure (Tilghman, 1987; Wohner et al., 2021). Moreover, the selective removal of standing dead trees reduces the nesting opportunities of cavity-breeders as natural cavities formed by decay or damage processes are

usually found more abundantly in older, larger trees (van der Hoek et al., 2017).

c. Building modernisation

To adapt to the low vegetation diversity in cities, some bird species started to successfully exploit urban environments by nesting in or on buildings and other man-made structures. These new nesting opportunities resulted in the population increases of many so-called 'urban exploiters' (Blair, 1996; Marzluff, 2001). However, over the past three decades, building modernization and renovation have eliminated many potential nest sites for building-nesting birds (Dulisz et al., 2021). Suitable cavities in walls and roofs are closed, and, to reduce the nuisance of birds, ledges and overhangs are equipped with plastic fascia boards or anti-roosting spikes to limit access by undesirable feral pigeons (Columba livia domestica)(Dulisz et al., 2021). A recent study conducted by a team of researchers from Poland looked into the relationship between the number of birds and the level of building modernization in 104 Polish villages (Rosin et al., 2020). The results of their study revealed that population sizes of building-nesting bird species in modernized villages were almost half the size compared to population sizes of birds breeding in villages with mainly old houses (Rosin et al., 2020). In the Netherlands, almost all urban areas are heavily modernized and populations of most urban exploiters have therefore been undergoing dramatic population declines. The most extreme example is the population decline of the formerly common house sparrow. Its population decreased by more than half since 1990, and house sparrows are currently placed on the Dutch IUCN red list of threatened species (Klok et al., 2006; IUCN, 2016).

Besides the direct loss of suitable nesting sites in the urban and agricultural environment, there are many processes by which nesting sites, though still available, have degraded. In the remaining sections below we will dive into several of these changes in the breeding habitat of birds and their impact on bird populations.

II. The mechanisation of grass cutting and advancement of mowing

a. Nest destruction by mowing machinery

A potentially destructive form of habitat change in the agricultural context specifically is the intensification of mowing. In the past, grass was cut mostly by hand or with horse-drawn mowing machines (Newton, 2017). This grass cutting process was slow and allowed most birds that were breeding on the meadows to escape in time before their nests were getting destroyed. But with the mechanisation of grass cutting around the 1960s, the average mowing date advanced as farmers could now mow more efficiently and faster (Schekkerman and Beintema, 2007; Newton, 2017). In addition, the increasingly warmer spring temperatures, a result of climate change, and the use of fertilisers resulted in even earlier mowing dates because both factors improve grass growth (Schroeder et al., 2012b). Studies have shown that many meadow bird species, among which the black-tailed godwit, have not been able to advance their breeding dates in accordance with the earlier mowing times (Kleijn et al., 2010; Kentie et al., 2015). The changes in mowing phenology are therefore threatening the nest survival of ground-nesting breeders as the dates of the breeding cycle and mowing start to overlap. The resulting mortality by agricultural losses is estimated to contribute to around a fifth of the total brood losses in areas where no nest protection takes place (Teunissen et al., 2008; Schekkerman et al., 2009).

b. Direct adult mortality and skewed sex-ratios

Agricultural changes in grassland management do not only affect brood fate but can also lead to direct adult mortality and adult sex-ratio distortion in bird species where only females incubate the eggs. Incubating birds usually stay on the nest for as long as possible and only leave the nest seconds before the mowing machinery destroys their nests (Grüebler et al., 2008). Mowing during the incubation phases of birds is therefore tricky as some birds may fail to leave the nest in time resulting in lethal causalities or immediate death. Grüebler et al. (2008) studied anthropogenic sex-specific mortality in a population of Alpine whinchats (*Saxicola rubetra*), a ground-nesting grassland bird species with female-only incubation. The results of their study revealed that adult survival was reduced significantly during the mowing period, and female survival was more than 12% lower compared to male survival (Grüebler et al., 2008). This female-biased mortality leads to more unmated males which in turn could accelerate population declines of birds through fewer mating opportunities.

III. The decline in food availability and accessibility

The previous sections have demonstrated that agricultural intensification and urbanisation can result in significant losses of suitable nesting habitat and increased risks of anthropogenic nest destruction. But the rapid human-induced habitat changes can also negatively impact the breeding success of birds further by reducing the availability of breeding habitats with sufficient food abundance, food diversity and food accessibility for foraging chicks.

a. Food declines for farmland birds

Surface-dwelling and above-ground insects and invertebrates form a major dietary component of many farmland birds and their offspring (Beintema et al., 1995). The availability of those arthropods is therefore crucial for the breeding success of birds. Following the drainage of grasslands, invertebrates that were commonly present in the wet top-soil layers of grasslands are now retraining to the deeper layers of the soil which makes them inaccessible for foraging birds (Onrust et al., 2019). On top of that, the dry topsoil layers of the drained grasslands make it harder or even impossible for birds to probe the soil in search for prey, resulting in lower food intakes (Mccracken and Tallowin, 2004; Onrust et al., 2019). The elimination of plant biodiversity, caused by monoculture farming and heavy nitrogen use, also affects the biodiversity of the arthropod community feeding on those plants (Morris, 2000). Larger-bodied arthropods with longer life cycles are diminishing from heavily managed fields as they have no time to develop between the successive grass cuts and the remaining small arthropods are often too small to be utilized by birds (Mccracken and Tallowin, 2004). The frequent cutting of the grass also influences the arthropod abundance, as several studies have shown that arthropod numbers crash directly after mowing (Morris, 2000; Newton, 2017). Finally, the accessibility of arthropod prey of meadow bird chicks is very low in the uniform and dense vegetation swards that dominate the intensively managed grass fields (Butler and Gillings, 2004; Kleijn et al., 2010). To confirm the hypothesis that birds consume fewer prey items in heavily managed fields, Schekkerman and Beintema (2007) performed a foraging experiment in which they let captive blacktailed godwit chicks forage in a cut agricultural grassland plot and a plot located in an uncut sward in a nature reserve. In line with the expectations, the results of their experiment showed that chicks foraging in the cut agricultural grassland ingested around a third fewer prey items per unit time

compared to chicks foraging in the uncut reserve fields, a difference large enough to reduce chick growth and survival (Schekkerman and Beintema, 2007).

For granivorous species, such as the common starling (*Sturnus vulgaris*), house sparrow and Eurasian skylark, food abundance and diversity in agricultural areas also declined as the frequent and earlier mowing of parcels allowed little capacity for plants to set seed (Mccracken and Tallowin, 2004). Moreover, the defoliation caused by ploughing of the fields severely reduced the possibility of seed production (Mccracken and Tallowin, 2004; Newton, 2017). For a more in-depth overview of the effects of agricultural intensification on seed availability, we refer the interested reader to pages [383-388] of lan Newton's book 'Farming and Birds' (2017).

b. Food declines for urban birds

Urban habitats differ immensely from more natural habitats in terms of food types and food abundance (Meillère et al., 2017). Because of the high human population densities in urban areas, birds have greater access to human-derived food sources through supplementary feeding (e.g. birdseed, sugar mixtures) or by consuming human food waste (e.g. bread, biscuits, beans, rice, vegetables)(Jones and Reynolds, 2008; Ottoni et al., 2009). Although some urban birds could, in theory, survive by only consuming the many available anthropogenic food sources during their adult life, most would not be able to reproduce as more than 90% of all terrestrial bird species rear their young on insects (Tallamy and Shriver, 2021). The availability of insects is thus a determining factor in the survival of bird populations (Tallamy and Shriver, 2021). In urban areas, vegetation density is usually low and areas of native vegetation are scarce which results in a low insect availability (Shaw et al., 2008). In addition, vast areas of native vegetation have been progressively removed and replaced by non-native vegetation which generally supports a lower food base for nestlings than native plants do (Southwood, 1961; Ortega et al., 2006). This insect scarcity in urban habitats can lead to population declines of wild birds as parents may not be able to provide their offspring with sufficient food (Peach et al., 2008; Seress et al., 2012; Tallamy and Shriver, 2021).

Habitat deterioration has thus led to significant declines in the food abundance, food diversity and food accessibility of birds across human-modified agricultural and urban landscapes. Besides the direct negative effects on birds' survival and reproductive success, these changes in the food supply may also affect birds indirectly through increased predation risks (Evans, 2004). A reduction in local food availability could force birds to forage in more dangerous places, and increases their foraging time which may make them and their offspring more vulnerable to predation as this extra time spent foraging cannot be used for guarding or defending their young (Martin, 1992; Evans, 2004).

IV. The pollution of habitats

a. Pesticides

With agricultural intensification came also an increased use of chemical pesticides. Since the 1960s, pesticides are commonly used by farmers to control crop pests, weeds and pathogens (Newton, 1998). Although beneficial for crop production, the use of pesticides can have deleterious or even deadly side effects on birds. Insecticide use has for example been shown to reduce the food supplies of birds as these synthetic toxins are non-specific and kill a wide range of insects and arthropods (Newton, 2017). Most pesticides are applied during the crop growing season which falls

simultaneously with the nesting phase of birds. As a result, nestlings or adult birds are sometimes directly exposed to chemical pesticides. Depending on the type of chemical used, direct contact with pesticides can result in acute dermal toxicity (Driver et al., 1991; Sánchez-Bayo, 2011). If birds ingest contaminated plants and insects, the chemical compounds of pesticides can accumulate in the body after which birds may experience chronic toxicity, sub-lethal effects or even acute death if a sufficient amount of pesticides are consumed (Sánchez-Bayo, 2011). Fortunately, many of the traditional toxic pesticides are no longer approved for use today and most modern pesticides are readily metabolized and thus do not accumulate in the body anymore (Canters and de Snoo, 1993; Sánchez-Bayo, 2011). Nonetheless, even today there still exist several commonly used pesticides that are suspected to negatively impact wild birds, for example through egg-shell thinning. For a more detailed summary of the effects of modern-day pesticides on bird populations, we would recommend Arya et al. (2019) and Li et al. (2020) for detailed analyses on this topic.

b. Plastic waste

Besides pesticides, an increasingly-important pollution threat to bird communities is the accumulation of plastic waste in the environment. Most data regarding birds and plastic comes from studies on marine organisms (Barnes et al., 2009). But terrestrial birds, especially those living in close proximity to human-modified landscapes, are also exposed to huge amounts of plastic waste. As mentioned earlier, the availability of natural nest material in urban areas is generally low due to the reduced native vegetation density (Reynolds et al., 2019). As a response, birds from many different taxa have been found to replace the unavailable natural nest materials with anthropogenic waste which, in contrast to natural elements, is abundantly available in urban areas (Wang et al., 2009; Radhamany et al., 2016; Jagiello et al., 2019; Hiemstra et al., 2021). Not surprisingly, the incorporation of plastic debris in nest construction is associated with increasing urbanisation (Wang et al., 2009; Radhamany et al., 2016; Jagiello et al., 2019). The use of anthropogenic materials can reduce the duration of the nest-building phase, but it can also have negative consequences for birds' survival. Nestlings can for example become entangled in plastic debris, leading to injuries or even mortality (Blem et al., 2002; Townsend and Barker, 2014). Besides entanglement risk, nestlings can also accidentally ingest plastic waste material which can result in immediate death when sharp plastics puncture their organs, or they may starve to death when they feel full from consuming plastic but receive no nutritional benefits (Theodosopoulos and Gotanda, 2018). Finally, long-term exposure to the toxic chemicals that coat plastics, causes damage to the chromosomal material of birds' blood cells which could result in changes in mortality or reproduction (Tanaka et al., 2013; Lavers et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2021).

c. Artificial light at night

In addition to pollutant substances, there also exist human-generated sensory sources that can impact living organisms. One example of such an anthropogenic pollutant source is artificial light at night (ALAN). Where artificial light at night may benefit humans through increased opportunities for economically productive activities, leisure and social interactions, it negatively impacts the behaviour, physiology, reproductive success and survival of birds inhabiting those areas (Gaston et al., 2015). Bird species that breed in temperate zones such as the Netherlands use the length of the photoperiod to predict the optimal onset of reproduction (Dawson et al., 2001). Light stimulation at night could however alter the perceived day length period of birds (Kumar et al., 2018). An experimental field study on a population of European blackbirds (*Turdus merula*) demonstrated that

the reproductive system of birds exposed to ALAN developed up to one month earlier than birds that were kept under dark conditions (Dominoni et al., 2013). Most strikingly, their results revealed that the differences in reproductive timing were already significant under very low artificial light intensities (Dominoni et al., 2013). Earlier onset of breeding may result in a lack of synchrony between chick hatch and food availability peaks which could potentially decrease the growth rates of nestlings (Visser et al., 2006). However, strong empirical evidence for a correlation between fitness declines and changes in reproductive timing due to ALAN is currently lacking and needs further studying (Dominoni et al., 2013; 2019). Another well-studied effect of night-time light pollution on birds is the disruption of the natural circadian rhythms. Several wild-bird studies indicated that white light causes sleep deprivation, evokes stress responses and negatively impacts the immune functioning of birds (Ouyang et al., 2017; Alaasam et al., 2018; Kumar et al., 2018; Dominoni et al., 2020).

d. Noise pollution

Another sensory stressor for birds inhabiting areas with high concentrations of human activities is the noise pollution by cars, planes and other machinery. Several studies have indicated a negative relationship between the fitness levels of breeding birds and the amount of anthropogenic noise. First of all, noise pollution can mask begging calls of nestlings which impairs parent-offspring communication resulting in lower feeding frequencies and impeding chick development (Schroeder et al., 2012a; Meillère et al., 2015b). Anthropogenic noise could also impair mate choice as females may not be able to assess male quality based on their sexual song (Habib et al., 2007; Halfwerk et al., 2011). A study on great tits (Parus major) in Leiden reported that great tit males at noisy locations adjust their sexual signal calls by singing with a higher minimum frequency, to prevent their songs from being masked (Slabbekoorn and Peet, 2003). However, these higher frequency calls have been linked to reduced male attractiveness and could hence lead to lower female investment and reduced pairing success (Habib et al., 2007; Halfwerk et al., 2011). Thirdly, high noise levels may also mask the alarm calls of birds and change their vigilance behaviour, which could in turn increase their predation risk (Meillère et al., 2015a; Templeton et al., 2016). Finally, the drowning out of begging calls, alarm songs and sexual calls, forces birds to expend more energy on communication (Francis et al., 2009; Ciach and Fröhlich, 2017).

V. The impact of man-made structures

In recent years, the increasing need for urbanisation has led to a further deterioration of the quality of the remaining breeding habitat of birds; New roads and train rails are built to transport the growing human population, high-rise flats are constructed to accommodate the housing shortage, and communication towers, wind turbines and electricity towers are built to provide humans with enough energy and electricity. These man-made structures cause disturbances in the landscapes of birds. On the one hand indirectly through the decrease of safe breeding grounds, on the other hand, also through direct mortality.

a. Lethal collision events

Collisions with man-made structures can be an important cause of direct avian mortality. In North America, bird strikes are even thought to rank among the top two threats to birds (Loss et al., 2014a;

2015). Recent quantitative reviews have estimated that buildings collisions in the United States kill between 365 to 988 million birds every year (Loss et al., 2014a), communication masts lead to an additional death of around 6,6 million birds (Longcore et al., 2012) and roughly 80 to 340 million birds are killed annually in the US by vehicle collisions (Loss et al., 2014b). These figures demonstrate the huge impact bird strikes can have on population numbers. Very few recent peer-reviewed studies of this topic have been conducted in the Netherlands so the estimated mortality rates of bird collisions in the Dutch landscapes remain largely unknown. However, an old study conducted in 1977 estimated that wildlife-vehicles collisions killed around 653.000 birds annually in the Netherlands (Erritzoe et al., 2003). Considering the rapid fleet expansion and infrastructure improvements of the past forty years, bird traffic mortality has most likely increased exponentially. Wind turbines are other man-made structures that have become an indispensable part of the Dutch landscape. A study conducted in the western part of the Netherlands calculated that an average of 28 birds were killed per wind turbine per year, with the highest proportion of victims being local and diurnally active birds among which the northern lapwing (Krijgsveld et al., 2009). With more than 3.500 on-shore wind turbines currently in the Netherlands, a rough back-of-the-envelope calculation suggests that this could add up to around 100.000 victims a year. The likelihood of a structure causing a collision event can be influenced by many factors, such as the location of a structure. Not surprisingly, a greater number of collisions have been observed at man-made structures that are located on migratory and local flyways (e.g. between foraging and nesting areas) or that are situated close to feeding or breeding areas of birds (Everaert and Stienen, 2007; Drewitt and Langston, 2008; Tellería, 2009). The correct placement of man-made structures could thus dramatically decrease the collision risk of breeding adults.

b. Lower predator visibility

Next to the fact that buildings and other man-made structures can directly kill birds, these structures may also affect the perceived level of predation risk by birds and thereby deteriorate their environment. The openness of a landscape is an important habitat characteristic for ground-nesting meadow bird species as this allows them to detect potential danger earlier (Melman et al., 2008; van der Vliet et al., 2008). Meadow birds trust their instinct to scare away predators from their territory, but to do so they need to have the ability to quickly detect an approaching predator. The more open a landscape, the faster they can detect potential predators (van der Vliet et al., 2008). However, the increase of disturbing elements in the Dutch landscapes hampers the visibility for breeding birds and hence can result in a decrease in safe breeding areas. Besides the reduced visibility, raptor species can also utilize man-made objects as artificial perching sites, thereby improving their hunting efficiency resulting in even less safe breeding areas (Meunier et al., 2000). Measuring the effect of an increase in disturbing elements on predation levels is difficult as the predation rate depends on many non-exclusive factors. However, the presence of view-obstructing elements could create a so-called landscape of fear in which breeding birds may avoid areas of high perceived predation risk (Laundré et al., 2001; Van Der Vliet et al., 2010). To test this hypothesis, van der Vliet et al. (2010) studied the effect of different landscape elements on the nest-site selection of three meadow bird species (black-tailed godwit, Eurasian oystercatcher and the northern lapwing) breeding in the Netherlands. In their review paper, they distinguished between view-obstructing elements (houses, wind turbines, electricity cables, bridges, trees) and flat elements (roads, canals, railway)(Van Der Vliet et al., 2010). The results of their study revealed that birds keep up to one kilometre distance from village edges and highways. Moreover, they found a significant positive correlation between the intensity of traffic and the disturbance distance of birds (Van Der Vliet et al., 2010). Although the results clearly show that meadow birds keep a distance from anthropogenic disturbance elements, it is not sure if these

responses are caused by a fear of predation or if this behaviour may at least be partially driven by other urban-related stressors, such as traffic noise or light pollution [as described in section IV].

VI. The fragmentation of suitable habitat

Human development (converting land to agricultural, industrial, and urban uses) and the presence of man-made structures in the Dutch landscape have reduced the quality of the remaining suitable breeding habitats of birds through accelerated habitat fragmentation (Franklin et al., 2002). Habitat fragmentation or habitat sub-division is the process in which large continuous mosaics of native vegetation become divided into many small fragments surrounded by a matrix of cement, grass, crops, and degraded lands (Franklin et al., 2002; Fischer and Lindenmayer, 2007). When habitats become fragmented, the size of habitat patches decreases (area effect), the ratio of edge to interior habitats increases (edge effect), and the distance between occupied patches increases (dispersal effect) (Batáry and Báldi, 2004; Fischer and Lindenmayer, 2007). These three processes can negatively affect the breeding success and survival of birds in various ways, as will be discussed in more detail below.

a. Limited food resources

Smaller isolated habitat patches can cause population declines, for example because food resources could become limited. Several studies have demonstrated that invertebrate biomass and foraging efficiency is significantly lower in small fragments of native habitat than in large continuous habitats (Burke and Nol, 1998; Zanette et al., 2000), similar results have been found in grassland patches of varying sizes (Kruess and Tscharntke, 1994; Steffan-Dewenter and Tscharntke, 2002; Piessens et al., 2009). The lack of habitat connectivity could also decrease the ability of insect populations to resist and recover from environmental disturbances, making them more susceptible to extinction (Piessens et al., 2009). Evidence from several studies has shown that increased distance between habitat fragments decreases patch colonization rates and increases the insect extinction probability (Kruess and Tscharntke, 1994; Steffan-Dewenter and Tscharntke, 2002).

b. Increased predation risks

A number of studies have reported elevated predation rates in fragmented landscapes with high ratios of edge to interior area (Winter et al., 2000; Marzluff and Ewing, 2001; Batáry and Báldi, 2004). Most predatory species are adapted to, and more abundantly present in edge habitats (Winter et al., 2000; Marzluff and Ewing, 2001). Moreover, most mammalian predators use the edges of fragmented habitats as travel or forage lanes (Chalfoun et al., 2002). Thus, increases in the amount of edge habitat make breeding birds inhabiting fragmented habitat patches more subjected to influences from their surroundings (Fagan et al., 1999). To better understand the mechanisms underlying the increase of predation in fragmented landscapes, Chalfoun et al (2002) performed a meta-analysis in which they evaluated whether predator responses to fragmentation depend on landscape type. The results of their study revealed that predator effects (e.g. predator abundance, predator activity and species-richness) were most prevalent in landscapes that are divided by agricultural development or surrounded by urban settlement than in predominantly forested landscapes (Chalfoun et al., 2002).

VII. Changes in the mammalian predator community

In the above sections, it became apparent that changes in the landscape due to agricultural intensification and urbanisation can, in many ways, lead to an increased predation risk for birds and their broods. Besides such effects, anthropogenic changes to the landscape have also resulted in changes in the predator community itself which in turn can have an effect on the success of bird populations. Below we specify these changes focusing on native and invasive mammalian predator species.

a. Native predatory species

During the last decades, the impact of generalist native predatory species in the Netherlands appears to have increased. In 2020, the Dutch government published a revised Red List of threatened species and the Central Bureau of Statistics (CBS) compared the population trends since 1995 (van Norren et al., 2020). The results of their comparison revealed that the average level of threat to mammalian species in the Netherlands has decreased by 35% (Thissen and van Norren, 2020). In contrast, birds have shown no sign of recovery since 1995 (Thissen and van Norren, 2020). The red list data shows that large and medium-sized mammals, in particular, have increased in number. Some examples of predators that have been showing population increases over the last years are the red fox, (*Vulpes vulpes*), beech marten (*Martes foina*), pine marten (*Martes martes*) and badger (*meles meles*)(van Norren et al., 2020). Important factors in the return of large predators are the bans on hunting, land-use changes, and increases now offer plenty of food all year round and the mild winters increase their survival probability (Deinet et al., 2013).

The recovery of large-bodied mammalian predator species is considered to be a major conservation success. However, their population recoveries and the consequent increases in predation pressure hampers the conservation of breeding birds in the Netherlands. Over the last twenty years, predation in the egg stage of meadow birds has increased by 40% and researchers have determined that 70-85% of the deaths of lapwing and black-tailed godwit chicks are due to predation (Schekkerman et al., 2009). However, there is a large variation in the amount of predation between different types of landscapes. According to several studies, the increase in predation of meadow bird nests appears to be only a problem in poor quality breeding areas (Kentie et al., 2015). In herbaceous grasslands, the success rate of, for example, black-tailed godwit nests was still comparable to the late 1980s, when there were far fewer predators roaming around (Kentie et al., 2015).

A study on a population of northern lapwings indicated that reduced surface flooding and removal of tall vegetation resulted in significant increases in nest predation rates (Laidlaw et al., 2017). If the vegetation is too short, birds and their nests have less shelter and are thus more likely to be detected by potential enemies. Surface flooding on the other hand may create barriers that impact the movement patterns of predators in wet grasslands (Harri et al., 1999). However, strong empirical evidence for this hypothesis is currently lacking. Additionally, intensification of land use also results in population declines of small mammalian species such as the tundra vole (*Alexandromys oeconomus Arenicola*), bi-coloured shrew (*Crocidura leucodon leucodon*), rabbit (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*), and brown hare (*Lepus europaeus europaeus*)(van Norren et al., 2020). Small mammals are the main prey species of most generalist predators such as the red fox or beech marten, so a decrease in the number of alternative prey species increases the relative predation

pressure on birds nests and chicks (Laidlaw et al., 2017). These examples show that the increase in predator species alone does not necessarily result in higher predation risks. However, it is the combination of a high predator abundance alongside the degradation of habitats that is threatening many wild bird populations (Roos et al., 2018).

b. Invasive predatory species

Besides an increase in nest and chick predation by native predators, many breeding birds are now also commonly exposed to invasive predators which can cause a multitude of problems with native wildlife. According to the definition published by the Dutch government (see Mulder 2013 and references within), an invasive species is; 'an organism which arrives from elsewhere with the aid of humans (by transport or infrastructure) and which is a successful coloniser (by reproduction and population growth)'. According to two Dutch professors, the main invasive predator of birds in the Netherlands is the domestic cat which poses a serious threat to around 367 bird species (Trouwborst and Somsen, 2021). The domestic cat descends from wildcats (*Felis silvestris*) and was domesticated in the Near East around 7500 BC (Ottoni et al., 2017). Nowadays, cats are among the most popular pets of humans and populations have been increasing rapidly since the 1970s. In the Netherlands, the total cat population in 2020 amounts to more than 3 million, that is around one cat for every sixth Dutch citizen (Trouwborst and Somsen, 2021).

A technical report estimated that the direct impact of cats in the Netherlands results in the death of nearly 5 million grassland and meadow birds annually, this is around a quarter of the total breeding population (Knol, 2015). No exact data is available on the number of urban birds that are killed by cats, but a citizen survey under Dutch cat owners reported that each free-ranging cat kills on average 40 to 80 small animals (birds, mammals, reptiles and amphibians) on a yearly basis (Knol, 2015). In addition to predation mortality, the indirect disturbance of cats could also lead to sub-lethal effects. Measuring the impact of indirect disturbance by domestic cats is more difficult as it will not result in immediate death. However, fear or intimidation effects, which are caused by the mere appearance, scent or presence of cats, can impact birds' welfare and reproductive success indirectly by evoking stress responses and influencing the feeding and defence behaviours of birds (Trouwborst and Somsen, 2021). If cats come in close contact with birds, they can also transmit diseases or parasites. One of these cat-transmitted diseases is toxoplasmosis which could lead to death in highly susceptible species, such as the grey partridge which is one of the Dutch red list species (Sedlák et al., 2000). A final way in which cats could negatively impact avian wildlife is through increased competition with other native predators (Trouwborst and Somsen, 2021).

Another important invasive alien predator species to mention in the context of the Dutch landscape is the raccoon dog (*Nyctereutes procyonoides*) (Mulder, 2013). The raccoon dog was introduced to the former soviet union around 1928 for its valuable fur but became feral after deliberate releases and escapes from fur farms (Kauhala and Kowalczyk, 2011). Since then, raccoon dogs have bred exponentially and expanded their range across the European continent. Raccoon dogs have been observed in the Netherlands since the 90s, but their reproduction has only been confirmed recently (Vergoossen and Backbier, 1993; Mulder, 2013). Raccoon dogs can impact avian wildlife directly through the predation of eggs and chicks, but they can also spread diseases and compete for food with other native predators such as the red fox (Kauhala and Kowalczyk, 2011; Mulder, 2013; Krüger et al., 2018).

3. THE WAY FORWARD

The aim of the present research was to examine how birds inhabiting (sub)urban and agricultural habitats are impacted by human-induced rapid environment changes, focussing on the Netherlands as a case study. The large body of evidence reviewed above indicates that human impacts such as land-use change (drainage, ploughing, intensive mechanical grass cutting, reseeding with grass monocultures), the use of chemical pesticides and fertilizers, the introduction of invasive plant and predator species, plastic pollution, and the increase in man-made structures can have clear negative effects on a birds' reproductive success and survival through many different direct and indirect processes that are intertwined. Such effects are a prime suspect as to why more and more Dutch breeding birds are classified on the IUCN red list of threatened (Thissen and van Norren, 2020). Although the fate of many species thus seems dire, it must be noted from a biodiversity point of view that there are also still some opportunistic bird species that are performing surprisingly well in human-modified habitats. Some gull species have for example been steadily increasing in urban environments because they can utilize the rooftops of buildings for nesting, and anthropogenic food sources are easily and abundantly available to them (Auman et al., 2008; Soldatini et al., 2008). However, when considered on the whole, more species are disappearing and declining than thriving in the Netherlands and from a biodiversity perspective action needs to be taken. Over the years, some efforts have been made to restore the downward trend of breeding birds, for example in the agricultural environment by implementing agri-environmental schemes (AES) in 1981 that focus mainly on nest protection and postponed mowing (Kleijn et al., 2001). But, to date, AES have unfortunately proven to be ineffective (Kleijn et al., 2001). The current policy, therefore, needs to change otherwise some bird species are expected to disappear completely from the Netherlands.

In 2020, several scientists, a handful of nature, wildlife and agricultural organizations, and the former Dutch minister Pieter Winsemius joined forces and drafted the 'black-tailed godwit battle plan' ('grutto aanvalsplan'; Winsemius et al., 2020). The aim of this project is to improve the habitat quality on agricultural lands and to restore bird biodiversity by creating multiple large open habitats, the so-called opportunity areas. To improve the habitat quality of these opportunity areas, the water levels on these fields will be raised, livestock densities will be decreased, slurry injections will be replaced by rough farmyard manure and predators will be actively managed (Winsemius et al., 2020). The idea is that the combination of rough farmyard applications together with the raising of water tables will create herb-rich meadows with a high insect availability (Onrust and Piersma, 2019). Moreover, the removal of bushes and trees will create open landscapes that improve predator visibility and the high water tables will hinder the access of mammalian predators (van der Vliet et al., 2008). As the funding for this project has only been recently approved, the effectiveness of this project cannot be assessed yet. However, in 2011, Heinrich Belting set up a similar project in Lower Saxony, Germany and a recent evaluation of this project has shown extremely promising results. In this project named 'LIFE IP', 623 ha of private land was purchased and on these grasslands they created large, open re-wetted areas with extensive grassland management (Belting, 2020). After ten years, eleven breeding species that had completely disappeared from the area have returned and population numbers of the threatened lapwing and black-tailed godwit have more than tripled since the start of the project (Belting, 2020). This success story demonstrates that these large restoration projects have the potential to successfully turn around the current population declines of meadow bird species by transitioning to a more nature-inclusive approach.

Besides the large-scale 'black-tailed godwit battle plan' aimed at restoring biodiversity in the agricultural environment, there also exist some small and inexpensive conservation measures that can be implemented almost instantly by citizens, farmers or municipalities. Although these measures

will not turn the population declines of breeding birds around, they could at least partly contribute to the protection of birds in urban and agricultural habitats. First of all, farmers could change their mowing patterns by mowing from the centre outwards. This practice allows adult birds and nestlings to escape to the field edges and prevents them from getting trapped in an ever decreasing circle (Green et al., 1997; Tyler et al., 1998). As mentioned in section V, around 100.000 birds are killed annually through wind turbine collisions. To reduce the collision risk of birds with wind turbines, the visibility of the rotating blades could be increased by painting them (Drewitt and Langston, 2008). A recent experimental study published in ecology and evolution demonstrated that the annual fatality rate of birds at painted wind turbines was reduced by more than 70% compared to unpainted turbines (May et al., 2020). To compensate for the loss of cavities in trees and old buildings, nature organizations, municipalities and citizens have been attaching many nest boxes to trees and buildings. Although the use of nest boxes is an effective conservation measure, more effort could be put into selecting the right nest box design and placement to optimize the effectiveness of these boxes [see Dulisz et al., 2021 for a review]. To reduce the risk of bird predation by domestic cats, cat owners could equip their free-roaming cats with special anti-predation devices (Trouwborst and Somsen, 2021). A recent experimental study tested the effectiveness of a bright cat collar and the results of their trial showed that predation rates of cats wearing the collar were reduced by 78% (Pemberton and Ruxton, 2020). Finally, citizens could be encouraged to plant more native trees in their gardens. Native plants do not only offer more nesting, sheltering and feeding opportunities for birds, they also need less pesticides and fertilizer because they are already well adapted to the local climate and pest species (Southwood, 1961).

On a final note, this review set out to investigate human impacts on birds with the Netherlands as a case example. But is the case example of the Netherlands representative for the rest of the world? The Netherlands is unique in the sense that it is a small country with many inhabitants per square meter and a highly productive agricultural system. While the intense agricultural practices in the Netherlands have yielded high results, the country now also shows the steepest decline of farmland birds across the entire European region. Unfortunately, the steep declines of migrating meadow birds in the Netherlands also impacts the population numbers of these species at their wintering areas in Spain, Portugal and West Africa. Vice versa, Dutch breeding birds are negatively impacted during their non-breeding season by deteriorating habitats and reduced food supplies at their wintering and stopover grounds (Hooijmeijer et al., 2021). Although the current review focused mainly on the effects of agricultural intensification and urbanisation on birds' reproductive success and survival during the breeding season, we should not neglect the importance of studying the impact of human-induced rapid environment changes on birds across their entire flyway. To conclude, we hope that other countries can learn from the mistakes that the Netherlands made and also the solutions it is now trying out by governing the transformation towards 'natureinclusive' agriculture early on.

4. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Alaasam, V. J., R. Duncan, S. Casagrande, S. Davies, A. Sidher, B. Seymoure, Y. Shen, Y. Zhang, and J. Q. Ouyang (2018). Light at night disrupts nocturnal rest and elevates glucocorticoids at cool color temperatures. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological* and Integrative Physiology 329:1–8. doi:10.1002/jez.2168
- Arya, A. K., A. Singh, and D. Bhatt (2019). Pesticide applications in agriculture and their effects on birds: an overview. In Contaminants in agriculture and environment: health risks and remediation. Agro Environ Media, Haridwar, pp. 129–137. doi:10.26832/AESA-2019-CAE
- Auman, H. J., C. E. Meathrel, and A. Richardson (2008). Supersize me: does anthropogenic food change the body condition of silver gulls? A comparison between urbanized and remote, non-urbanized areas. Waterbirds 31:122–126. doi:10.1675/1524-4695(2008)31[122:SMDAFC]2.0.CO;2
- Barnes, D. K. A., F. Galgani, R. C. Thompson, and M. Barlaz (2009). Accumulation and fragmentation of plastic debris in global environments. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B* **364**:1985–1998. doi:10.1098/rstb.2008.0205

Batáry, P., and A. Báldi (2004). Evidence of an edge effect on avian nest success. Conservation Biology 18:389-400.

Beintema, A. J., O. Moedt, and D. Ellinger (1995). Ecologische Atlas Van De Nederlandse Weidevogels. Schuyt & Co, Haarlem.

- Belting, H. (2020). Successful meadow bird conservation. [Online.] Available at https://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/natura2000/platform/events/pdf/Birds event/2. Successful Meadow Bird Conservation_Belting.pdf; viewed December 2021.
- Blair, R. B. (1996). Land use and avian species diversity along an urban gradient. Ecological Applications 6:506–519. doi:10.2307/2269387
- Blem, C. R., L. B. Blem, and P. J. Harmata (2002). Twine causes significant mortality in nestling ospreys. Wilson Bulletin 114:528–529.
- Bos, J. F. F. P., A. L. Smit, and J. J. Schröder (2013). Is agricultural intensification in the Netherlands running up to its limits? NJAS -Wageningen Journal of Life Sciences 66:65–73. doi:10.1016/j.njas.2013.06.001
- Burke, D. M., and E. Nol (1998). Influence of food abundance, nest-site habitat, and forest fragmentation on breeding ovenbirds. *The Auk* 115:96–104. doi:10.2307/4089115
- Butler, S. J., and S. Gillings (2004). Quantifying the effects of habitat structure on prey detectability and accessibility to farmland birds. *Ibis* **146**:123–130. doi:10.1111/j.1474-919X.2004.00352.x
- Canters, K. J., and G. R. de Snoo (1993). Chemical threat to birds and mammals in the Netherlands. In Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology. Springer, New York, pp. 1–30. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-20013-2
- Carlson, A., and S. Lintott (2008). Nature, aesthetics, and environmentalism: from beauty to duty. Colombia University Press, New York.
- CBS statline (2021a). Regionale kerncijfers Nederland: Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. [Online.] Available at https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/nl/dataset/70072NED/table?fromstatweb; viewed December 2021.
- CBS statline (2021b). Farmland birds: Centraal bureau voor de Statistiek. [Online.] Available at https://www.cbs.nl/en-gb/society/natureand-environment/green-growth/natural-resources/indicatoren/farmland-birds; viewed December 2021.
- Chalfoun, A. D., F. R. Thompson, and M. J. Ratnaswamy (2002). Nest predators and fragmentation: a review and meta-analysis. *Conservation Biology* **16**:306–318. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1739.2002.00308.x
- Chamberlain, D. E., J. D. Wilson, and R. J. Fuller (1999). A comparison of bird populations on organic and conventional farm systems in southern Britain. *Biological Conservation* 88:307–320. doi:10.1016/S0006-3207(98)00124-4
- Ciach, M., and A. Fröhlich (2017). Habitat type, food resources, noise and light pollution explain the species composition, abundance and stability of a winter bird assemblage in an urban environment. Urban Ecosystems 20:547–559. doi:10.1007/s11252-016-0613-6
- Dawson, A., V. M. King, G. E. Bentley, and G. F. Ball (2001). Photoperiodic control of seasonality in birds. *Journal of Biological Rhythms* 16:365–380. doi:10.1177/074873001129002079
- Deinet, S., C. Leronymidou, L. McRae, I. J. Burfield, R. P. Foppen, B. Collen, and M. Böhm (2013). Wildlife comeback in Europe: the recovery of selected mammal and bird species. Migration Strategies of Birds of Prey in Western Palearctic. Final report to Rewilding Europe by ZSL, BirdLife International and the European Bird Census Council, London. doi:10.1201/9781351023627-19
- Dominoni, D. M., M. de Jong, K. van Oers, P. O'Shaughnessy, G. Blackburn, E. Atema, C. A. Mateman, P. B. D'Amelio, L. Trost, M. Bellingham, J. Clark, et al. (2020). Artificial light at night shifts the circadian system but still leads to physiological disruption in a wild bird [Preprint]. Zoology:1–62. doi:10.1101/2020.12.18.423473
- Dominoni, D. M., J. Kjellberg Jensen, M. de Jong, M. E. Visser, and K. Spoelstra (2019). Artificial light at night, in interaction with spring temperature, modulates timing of reproduction in a passerine bird. *Ecological Applications* **30**:1–28. doi:10.1002/eap.2062
- Dominoni, D., M. Quetting, and J. Partecke (2013). Artificial light at night advances avian reproductive physiology. *Proceedings of the Royal* Society B 280:2013–2017. doi:10.1098/rspb.2012.3017

- Drewitt, A. L., and R. H. W. Langston (2008). Collision effects of wind-power generators and other obstacles on birds. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1134:233–266. doi:10.1196/annals.1439.015
- Driver, C. J., D. B. Drown, M. W. Ligotke, P. Van Voris, B. D. McVeety, and B. J. Greenspan (1991). Routes of uptake and their relative contribution to the toxicologic response of Northern bobwhite (Colinus virginianus) to an organophosphate pesticide. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 10:21–33. doi:10.1002/etc.5620100104
- Dulisz, B., A. M. Stawicka, P. Knozowski, T. A. Diserens, and J. J. Nowakowski (2021). Effectiveness of using nest boxes as a form of bird protection after building modernization. *Biodiversity and Conservation*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-021-02334-0 doi:10.1007/s10531-021-02334-0
- Erritzoe, J., T. D. Mazgajski, and Ł. Rejt (2003). Bird casualties on European roads a review. Acta Ornithologica 38:77–93. doi:10.3161/068.038.0204
- Evans, K. L. (2004). The potential for interactions between predation and habitat change to cause population declines of farmland birds. *Ibis* 146:1–13. doi:10.1111/j.1474-919X.2004.00231.x
- Everaert, J., and E. W. M. Stienen (2007). Impact of wind turbines on birds in Zeebrugge (Belgium): Significant effect on breeding tern colony due to collisions. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **16**:3345–3359. doi:10.1007/s10531-006-9082-1
- Fagan, W. F., R. S. Cantrell, and C. Cosner (1999). How habitat edges change species interactions. *The American Naturalist* **153**:165–182. doi:10.1086/303162
- Fischer, J., and D. B. Lindenmayer (2007). Landscape modification and habitat fragmentation: a synthesis. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **16**:265–280. doi:10.1111/j.1466-8238.2007.00287.x
- Francis, C. D., C. P. Ortega, and A. Cruz (2009). Noise pollution changes avian communities and species interactions. *Current Biology* 19:1415–1419. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2009.06.052
- Franklin, A. B., B. R. Noon, and T. L. George (2002). What is habitat fragmentation? Studies in Avian Biology 25:20–29.
- García, D., M. Miñarro, and R. Martínez-Sastre (2018). Birds as suppliers of pest control in cider apple orchards: avian biodiversity drivers and insectivory effect. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment **254**:233–243. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2017.11.034
- Gaston, K. J., S. Gaston, J. Bennie, and J. Hopkins (2015). Benefits and costs of artificial nighttime lighting of the environment. Environmental Reviews 23:14–23. doi:10.1139/er-2014-0041
- Green, R. E., G. A. Tyler, T. J. Stowe, and A. V. Newton (1997). A simulation model of the effect of mowing of agricultural grassland on the breeding success of the corncrake (Crex crex). *Journal of Zoology* **243**:81–115. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.1997.tb05758.x
- Grüebler, M. U., H. Schuler, M. Müller, R. Spaar, P. Horch, and B. Naef-Daenzer (2008). Female biased mortality caused by anthropogenic nest loss contributes to population decline and adult sex ratio of a meadow bird. *Biological Conservation* 141:3040–3049. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2008.09.008
- Habib, L., E. M. Bayne, and S. Boutin (2007). Chronic industrial noise affects pairing success and age structure of ovenbirds Seiurus aurocapilla. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **44**:176–184. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01234.x
- Halfwerk, W., S. Bot, J. Buikx, M. Van Der Velde, J. Komdeur, C. Ten Cate, and H. Slabbekoorn (2011). Low-frequency songs lose their potency in noisy urban conditions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108:14549–14554. doi:10.1073/pnas.1109091108
- Harri, M., J. Mononen, and J. Sepponen (1999). Preferences of farmed silver foxes (Vulpes vulpes) for four different floor types. *Canadian Journal of Animal Sciences* **79**:1–5. doi:10.1016/S0376-6357(00)00079-6
- Hellingman, S., and A. van Vliet (2020). Natuurlijke bestrijding eikenprocessierups voor derde jaar succesvol in Westerveld. [Online.] Available at https://www.naturetoday.com/intl/nl/nature-reports/message/?utm_source=newsletter&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=user-mailing&msg=26707; viewed December 2021.
- Herzog, F., B. Steiner, D. Bailey, J. Baudry, R. Billeter, R. Bukácek, G. De Blust, R. De Cock, J. Dirksen, C. F. Dormann, R. De Filippi, et al. (2006). Assessing the intensity of temperate European agriculture at the landscape scale. *European Journal of Agronomy* 24:165– 181. doi:10.1016/j.eja.2005.07.006
- Hiemstra, A. F., B. Gravendeel, and M. Schilthuizen (2021). Birds using artificial plants as nesting material [Preprint]. *Behaviour*:1–13. doi:10.1163/1568539X-bja10115
- van der Hoek, Y., G. V. Gaona, and K. Martin (2017). The diversity, distribution and conservation status of the tree-cavity-nesting birds of the world. *Diversity and Distributions* **23**:1–12. doi:10.1111/ddi.12601
- Hooijmeijer, J., R. Fokkema, and T. Piersma (2021). Black-tailed godwits (Limosa limosa) in Southwest Spain from Rio Barbate to Rio Odiel , habitat description and finding ringed birds from 1 – 11 October 2021.
- IUCN (2016). IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature) Red List of Threatened Species. [Online.] Available at www.iucnredlist.org; viewed December 2021.
- Jagiello, Z., Ł. Dylewski, M. Tobolka, and J. I. Aguirre (2019). Life in a polluted world: a global review of anthropogenic materials in bird

nests. Environmental Pollution 251:717-722. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2019.05.028

- Jones, D. N., and J. S. Reynolds (2008). Feeding birds in our towns and cities: a global research opportunity. *Journal of Avian Biology* **39**:265–271. doi:10.1111/j.0908-8857.2008.04271.x
- Jukema, G. D., P. Ramaekers, and P. Berkhout (2020). De Nederlandse agrarische sector in internationaal verband. Wageningen University & Research (WUR).
- Kauhala, K., and R. Kowalczyk (2011). Invasion of the raccoon dog Nyctereutes procyonoides in Europe: history of colonization, features behind its success, and threats to native fauna. *Current Zoology* **57**:584–598. doi:10.1093/czoolo/57.5.584
- Kentie, R., C. Both, J. C. E. W. Hooijmeijer, and T. Piersma (2015). Management of modern agricultural landscapes increases nest predation rates in black-tailed godwits Limosa limosa. *Ibis* 157:614–625. doi:10.1111/ibi.12273
- Kleijn, D., F. Berendse, R. Smit, and N. Gilissen (2001). Agri-environment schemes do not effectively protect biodiversity in Dutch agricultural landscapes. *Nature* **413**:723–725. doi:10.1038/35099540
- Kleijn, D., H. Schekkerman, W. J. Dimmers, R. J. M. Van Kats, D. Melman, and W. A. Teunissen (2010). Adverse effects of agricultural intensification and climate change on breeding habitat quality of black-tailed godwits Limosa I. limosa in the Netherlands. *Ibis* 152:475–486. doi:10.1111/j.1474-919X.2010.01025.x
- Klok, C., R. Holtkamp, R. Van Apeldoorn, M. E. Visser, and L. Hemerik (2006). Analysing population numbers of the house sparrow in the Netherlands with a matrix model and suggestions for conservation measures. Acta Biotheoretica 54:161–178. doi:10.1007/s10441-006-7871-2
- Knol, W. (2015). Verwilderde huiskatten: effecten op de natuur in Nederland. [Online.] Available at https://wbesusterengraetheide.nl/wpcontent/uploads/2018/04/Verwilderde-huiskatten-effecten-op-de-natuur-in-Nederland_Koninklijke-Nederlandse-Jagersvereniging_april-2016.pdf; viewed December 2021.
- Krijgsveld, K. L., K. Akershoek, F. Schenk, F. Dijk, and S. Dirksen (2009). Collision risk of birds with modern large wind turbines. Ardea 97:357–366. doi:10.5253/078.097.0311
- Kruess, A., and T. Tscharntke (1994). Habitat fragmentation, species loss, and biological control. Science 264:1581–1584. doi:10.1126/science.264.5165.1581
- Krüger, H., V. M. Väänänen, S. Holopainen, and P. Nummi (2018). The new faces of nest predation in agricultural landscapes—a wildlife camera survey with artificial nests. *European Journal of Wildlife Research* 64. doi:10.1007/s10344-018-1233-7
- Kumar, J., S. Malik, S. K. Bhardwaj, and S. Rani (2018). Bright light at night alters the perception of daylength in Indian weaver bird (Ploceus philippinus). *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology* **329**:1–9. doi:10.1002/jez.2201
- Laidlaw, R. A., J. Smart, M. A. Smart, and J. A. Gill (2017). Scenarios of habitat management options to reduce predator impacts on nesting waders. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **54**:1219–1229. doi:10.1111/1365-2664.12838
- Laundré, J. W., L. Hernández, and K. B. Altendorf (2001). Wolves, elk, and bison: reestablishing the "landscape of fear" in Yellowstone National Park, U.S.A. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **79**:1401–1409. doi:10.1139/cjz-79-8-1401
- Lavers, J. L., A. L. Bond, and I. Hutton (2014). Plastic ingestion by flesh-footed shearwaters (Puffinus carneipes): implications for fledgling body condition and the accumulation of plastic-derived chemicals. *Environmental Pollution* 187:124–129. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2013.12.020
- Li, Y., R. Miao, and M. Khanna (2020). Neonicotinoids and decline in bird biodiversity in the United States. *Nature Sustainability* **3**:1027–1035. doi:10.1038/s41893-020-0582-x
- Longcore, T., C. Rich, P. Mineau, B. MacDonald, D. G. Bert, L. M. Sullivan, E. Mutrie, S. A. Gauthreaux, M. L. Avery, R. L. Crawford, A. M. Manville, et al. (2012). An estimate of avian mortality at communication towers in the United States and Canada. *PloS one* **7**:1–17. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034025
- Loss, S. R., T. Will, S. S. Loss, and P. P. Marra (2014a). Bird–building collisions in the United States: estimates of annual mortality and species vulnerability. *The Condor* **116**:8–23. doi:10.1650/condor-13-090.1
- Loss, S. R., T. Will, and P. P. Marra (2014b). Estimation of bird-vehicle collision mortality on U.S. roads. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 78:763–771. doi:10.1002/jwmg.721
- Loss, S. R., T. Will, and P. P. Marra (2015). Direct mortality of birds from anthropogenic causes. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* **46**:99–120. doi:10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-112414-054133
- Mainwaring, M. C. (2015). The use of man-made structures as nesting sites by birds: a review of the costs and benefits. *Journal for Nature Conservation* **25**:17–22. doi:10.1016/j.jnc.2015.02.007
- Martin, T. E. (1992). Interaction of nest predation and food limitation in reproductive strategies. In Current Ornithology. Springer US, New York, pp. 163–197.
- Marzluff, J. M. (2001). Worldwide urbanization and its effects on birds. In Avian Ecology and Conservation in an Urbanizing World. Springer Science+Business Media, New York, pp. 19–47. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-1531-9_2

- Marzluff, J. M., and K. Ewing (2001). Restoration of fragmented landscapes for the conservation of birds: a general framework and specific recommendations for urbanizing landscapes. *Restoration Ecology* **9**:280–292. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-73412-5_48
- May, R., T. Nygård, U. Falkdalen, J. Åström, Ø. Hamre, and B. G. Stokke (2020). Paint it black: efficacy of increased wind turbine rotor blade visibility to reduce avian fatalities. *Ecology and Evolution* **10**:8927–8935. doi:10.1002/ece3.6592
- Mccracken, D. I., and J. R. Tallowin (2004). Swards and structure: the interactions between farming practices and bird food resources in lowland grasslands. *Ibis* **146**:108–114. doi:10.1111/j.1474-919X.2004.00360.x
- Meillère, A., F. Brischoux, and F. Angelier (2015a). Impact of chronic noise exposure on antipredator behavior: an experiment in breeding house sparrows. *Behavioral Ecology* 26:569–577. doi:10.1093/beheco/aru232
- Meillère, A., F. Brischoux, P. Y. Henry, B. Michaud, R. Garcin, and F. Angelier (2017). Growing in a city: consequences on body size and plumage quality in an urban dweller, the house sparrow (Passer domesticus). Landscape and Urban Planning 160:127–138. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2016.12.014
- Meillère, A., F. Brischoux, C. Parenteau, and F. Angelier (2015b). Influence of urbanization on body size, condition, and physiology in an urban exploiter: a multi-component approach. *PLoS ONE* **10**:1–19. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0135685
- Melman, C. P., A. G. M. Schotman, S. Hunink, and G. R. de Snoo (2008). Evaluation of meadow bird management, especially black-tailed godwit (Limosa limosa L.), in the Netherlands. *Journal for Nature Conservation* **16**:88–95. doi:10.1016/j.jnc.2008.01.002
- Meunier, F. D., C. Verheyden, and P. Jouventin (2000). Use of roadsides by diurnal raptors in agricultural landscapes. *Biological Conservation* 92:291–298. doi:10.1016/S0006-3207(99)00094-4
- Milligan, M. C., M. D. Johnson, M. Garfinkel, C. J. Smith, and P. Njoroge (2016). Quantifying pest control services by birds and ants in Kenyan coffee farms. *Biological Conservation* **194**:58–65. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2015.11.028
- Morris, M. G. (2000). The effects of structure and its dynamics on the ecology and conservation of arthropods in British grasslands. Biological Conservation **95**:129–142. doi:10.4103/0019-5154.117323
- Mulder, J. (2013). The raccoon dog (Nyctereutes procyonoides) in the Netherlands its present status and a risk assessment. Lutra 56:23–43.

Newton, I. (1998). Population limitation in birds. Academic press, San Diego.

Newton, I. (2017). Farming and birds. William Collins, London.

- van Norren, E., J. Dekker, and H. Limpens (2020). Basisrapport rode lijst zoogdieren 2020 volgens Nederlandse en IUCN-criteria. [Online.] Available at https://www.zoogdiervereniging.nl/sites/default/files/2020-11/Basisrapport RL Zoogdieren 01102020 def.pdf; viewed December 2021.
- Onrust, J., and T. Piersma (2019). How dairy farmers unwittingly manage the tritrophic interactions between grassland fertilizers and earthworm ecotypes and their predators. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* **273**:80–85.
- Onrust, J., E. Wymenga, T. Piersma, and H. Olff (2019). Earthworm activity and availability for meadow birds is restricted in intensively managed grasslands. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **56**:1333–1342. doi:10.1111/1365-2664.13356
- Ortega, Y. K., K. S. McKelvey, and D. L. Six (2006). Invasion of an exotic forb impacts reproductive success and site fidelity of a migratory songbird. *Oecologia* **149**:340–351. doi:10.1007/s00442-006-0438-8
- Ottoni, C., W. Van Neer, B. De Cupere, J. Daligault, S. Guimaraes, J. Peters, N. Spassov, M. E. Prendergast, N. Boivin, A. Morales-Muñiz, A. Bălășescu, et al. (2017). The palaeogenetics of cat dispersal in the ancient world. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* **1**:1–7. doi:10.1038/s41559-017-0139
- Ottoni, I., F. F. R. de Oliveira, and R. J. Young (2009). Estimating the diet of urban birds: the problems of anthropogenic food and food digestibility. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **117**:42–46. doi:10.1016/j.applanim.2008.11.002
- Ouyang, J. Q., M. de Jong, R. H. A. van Grunsven, K. D. Matson, M. F. Haussmann, P. Meerlo, M. E. Visser, and K. Spoelstra (2017). Restless roosts: light pollution affects behavior, sleep, and physiology in a free-living songbird. *Global Change Biology* 23:4987–4994. doi:10.1111/gcb.13756
- Page, J. (2016). Tidy or tangled: how people perceive landscapes. doi:10.13016/M2HH6C69B
- Peach, W. J., K. E. Vincent, J. A. Fowler, and P. V. Grice (2008). Reproductive success of house sparrows along an urban gradient. *Animal Conservation* **11**:493–503. doi:10.1111/j.1469-1795.2008.00209.x
- Pemberton, C., and G. D. Ruxton (2020). Birdsbesafe[®] collar cover reduces bird predation by domestic cats (Felis catus). *Journal of Zoology* **310**:106–109. doi:10.1111/jzo.12739
- Piessens, K., D. Adriaens, H. Jacquemyn, and O. Honnay (2009). Synergistic effects of an extreme weather event and habitat fragmentation on a specialised insect herbivore. *Oecologia* **159**:117–126. doi:10.1007/s00442-008-1204-x
- Radhamany, D., K. S. . Das, P. A. Azeez, L. Wen, and L. K. Sreekala (2016). Usage of nest materials by house sparrow (Passer domesticus) along an urban to rural gradient in Coimbatore, India. *Tropical Life Sciences Research* 27:127–134. doi:10.21315/tlsr2016.27.2.10

- Reynolds, J. S., J. D. Ibáñez-Álamo, P. Sumasgutner, and M. C. Mainwaring (2019). Urbanisation and nest building in birds: a review of threats and opportunities. *Journal of Ornithology* **160**:841–860. doi:10.1007/s10336-019-01657-8
- Roodbergen, M., and W. Teunissen (2014). Meadow bird conservation in the Netherlands lessons from the past and future developments. *Vogelwelt* **135**:29–34.
- Roos, S., J. Smart, D. W. Gibbons, and J. D. Wilson (2018). A review of predation as a limiting factor for bird populations in mesopredatorrich landscapes: a case study of the UK. *Biological Reviews* **93**:1915–1937. doi:10.1111/brv.12426
- Rosin, Z. M., M. Hiron, M. Żmihorski, P. Szymański, M. Tobolka, and T. Pärt (2020). Reduced biodiversity in modernized villages: a conflict between sustainable development goals. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **57**:467–475. doi:10.1111/1365-2664.13566
- Sánchez-Bayo, F. (2011). Impacts of agricultural pesticides on terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecological Impacts of Toxic Chemicals* **4**:63–87. doi:10.2174/978160805121210063
- Schekkerman, H., and A. J. Beintema (2007). Abundance of invertebrates and foraging success of black-tailed godwit Limosa limosa chicks in relation to agricultural grassland management. *Ardea* **95**:39–54. doi:10.5253/078.095.0105
- Schekkerman, H., W. Teunissen, and E. Oosterveld (2009). Mortality of black-tailed godwit Limosa limosa and northern lapwing Vanellus vanellus chicks in wet grasslands: influence of predation and agriculture. *Journal of Ornithology* **150**:133–145. doi:10.1007/s10336-008-0328-4
- Schroeder, J., S. Nakagawa, I. R. Cleasby, and T. Burke (2012a). Passerine birds breeding under chronic noise experience reduced fitness. *PLoS ONE* **7**:1–8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0039200
- Schroeder, J., T. Piersma, N. M. Groen, J. C. E. W. Hooijmeijer, R. Kentie, P. M. Lourenço, H. Schekkerman, and C. Both (2012b). Reproductive timing and investment in relation to spring warming and advancing agricultural schedules. *Journal of Ornithology* 153:327–336. doi:10.1007/s10336-011-0747-5
- Sedlák, K., I. Literák, F. Vitula, and J. Benák (2000). High susceptibility of partridges (Perdix perdix) to toxoplasmosis compared with other gallinaceous birds. *Avian Pathology* **29**:563–569. doi:10.1080/03079450020016805
- Sekercioglu, C. H. (2006). Increasing awareness of avian ecological function. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **21**:464–471. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2006.05.007
- Seress, G., V. Bókony, I. Pipoly, T. Szép, K. Nagy, and A. Liker (2012). Urbanization, nestling growth and reproductive success in a moderately declining house sparrow population. *Journal of Avian Biology* **43**:403–414. doi:10.1111/j.1600-048X.2012.05527.x
- Shaw, L. M., D. Chamberlain, and M. Evans (2008). The house sparrow Passer domesticus in urban areas: reviewing a possible link between post-decline distribution and human socioeconomic status. *Journal of Ornithology* **149**:293–299. doi:10.1007/s10336-008-0285-y
- Silva-Monteiro, M., H. Pehlak, C. Fokker, D. Kingma, and D. Kleijn (2021). Habitats supporting wader communities in Europe and relations between agricultural land use and breeding densities: a review. *Global Ecology and Conservation* **28**:1–14. doi:10.1016/j.gecco.2021.e01657
- Sinninghe, J. W. R. (1978). Volkssprookjes uit Nederland en Vlaanderen. Kruseman, The Hague.
- Slabbekoorn, H., and M. Peet (2003). Birds sing at a higher pitch in urban noise. Nature 424:267–267. doi:10.1038/424267a
- Soga, M., and K. J. Gaston (2016). Extinction of experience: the loss of human-nature interactions. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 14:94–101. doi:10.1002/fee.1225
- Soldatini, C., Y. V. Albores-Barajas, D. Mainardi, and P. Monaghan (2008). Roof nesting by gulls for better or worse? *Italian Journal of Zoology* **75**:295–303. doi:10.1080/11250000701884805
- Southwood, T. R. E. (1961). The number of species of insect associated with various trees. *The Journal of Animal Ecology* **30**:1–8. doi:10.2307/2109
- Steffan-Dewenter, I., and T. Tscharntke (2002). Insect communities and biotic interactions on fragmented calcareous grasslands a mini review. *Biological Conservation* **104**:275–284. doi:10.1016/S0006-3207(01)00192-6
- Tallamy, D. W., and W. G. Shriver (2021). Are declines in insects and insectivorous birds related? *Condor* **123**:1–8. doi:10.1093/ornithapp/duaa059
- Tanaka, K., H. Takada, R. Yamashita, K. Mizukawa, M. aki Fukuwaka, and Y. Watanuki (2013). Accumulation of plastic-derived chemicals in tissues of seabirds ingesting marine plastics. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **69**:219–222. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2012.12.010
- Tellería, J. L. (2009). Potential impacts of wind farms on migratory birds crossing Spain. *Bird Conservation International* **19**:131–136. doi:10.1017/S0959270908008137
- Templeton, C. N., S. A. Zollinger, and H. Brumm (2016). Traffic noise drowns out great tit alarm calls. *Current Biology* 26:1173–1174. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2016.09.058
- Teunissen, W., H. Schekkerman, F. Willems, and F. Majoor (2008). Identifying predators of eggs and chicks of lapwing Vanellus vanellus and black-tailed godwit Limosa limosa in the Netherlands and the importance of predation on wader reproductive output. *Ibis* **150**:74– 85. doi:10.1111/j.1474-919X.2008.00861.x

- Theodosopoulos, A. N., and K. M. Gotanda (2018). Death of a Darwin's finch: a consequence of human-made debris? *Wilson Journal of Ornithology* **130**:881–890. doi:10.1676/1559-4491.130.4.1023
- Thissen, J., and E. van Norren (2020). A new Dutch red list! Lutra 63:1-4.
- Tilghman, N. G. (1987). Characteristics of urban woodlands affecting breeding bird diversity and abundance. Landscape and Urban Planning 14:481–495. doi:10.1016/0169-2046(87)90061-2
- Townsend, A. K., and C. M. Barker (2014). Plastic and the nest entanglement of urban and agricultural crows. *PLoS ONE* **9**:1–5. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0088006
- Trouwborst, A., and H. Somsen (2021). Domestic cats (Felis catus) and European nature conservation law—applying the EU birds and habitats directives to a significant but neglected threat to wildlife. *Journal of Environmental Law* **32**:391–415. doi:10.1093/JEL/EQZ035
- Tyler, G. A., R. E. Green, and C. Casey (1998). Survival and behaviour of corncrake Crex crex chicks during the mowing of agricultural grassland. *Bird Study* **45**:35–50. doi:10.1080/00063659809461076

Vergoossen, W. G., and L. Backbier (1993). Waarnemingen van de wasbeerhond in Limburg. Natuurhistorisch maandblad 82:36-41.

- Verhulst, J., E. van Kampen, D. Kleijn, and F. Berendse (2007). Nest site selection of meadow birds in relation to environmental conditions and the presence of heterospecifics. *Meadow bird ecology at different spatial scales: Responses to environmental conditions and implications for management*.
- Visser, M. E., L. J. M. Holleman, and P. Gienapp (2006). Shifts in caterpillar biomass phenology due to climate change and its impact on the breeding biology of an insectivorous bird. *Oecologia* **147**:164–172. doi:10.1007/s00442-005-0299-6
- Van Der Vliet, R. E., J. Van Dijk, and M. J. Wassen (2010). How different landscape elements limit the breeding habitat of meadow bird species. Ardea 98:203–209. doi:10.5253/078.098.0210
- van der Vliet, R. E., E. Schuller, and M. J. Wassen (2008). Avian predators in a meadow landscape: consequences of their occurrence for breeding open-area birds. *Journal of Avian Biology* **39**:523–529.
- Wang, L., G. Nabi, L. Yin, Y. Wang, S. Li, Z. Hao, and D. Li (2021). Birds and plastic pollution: recent advances. Avian Research 12:1–9. doi:10.1186/s40657-021-00293-2
- Wang, Y., S. Chen, R. B. Blair, P. Jiang, and P. Ding (2009). Nest composition adjustments by Chinese bulbuls pycnonotus sinensis in an urbanized landscape of Hangzhou (E China). *Acta Ornithologica* 44:185–192. doi:10.3161/000164509X482768
- Whelan, C. J., D. G. Wenny, and R. J. Marquis (2008). Ecosystem services provided by birds. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1134:25–60. doi:10.1196/annals.1439.003
- Wilson, J. D., M. J. Whittingham, and R. B. Bradbury (2005). The management of crop structure: a general approach to reversing the impacts of agricultural intensification on birds? *Ibis* **147**:453–463. doi:10.1111/j.1474-919x.2005.00440.x
- Winsemius, P., F. Crone, O. it Fryske Gea, O. de Friese Milieu Federatie, and O. Vogelbescherming Nederland (2020). Black-tailed godwit battle plan. [Online.] Available at https://www.bargeaqueuenoire.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/aewa-black-tailed-godwit-newsletter-2-autumn-2020.pdf; viewed December 2021.
- Winter, M., D. H. Johnson, and J. Faaborg (2000). Evidence for edge effects on multiple levels in tallgrass prairie. *The Condor* **102**:256–266. doi:10.2307/1369636
- Wohner, P. J., S. A. Laymon, J. E. Stanek, S. L. King, and R. J. Cooper (2021). Early successional riparian vegetation is important for western yellow-billed cuckoo nesting habitat [Preprint]. *Restoration Ecology* 29:1–26. doi:10.1111/rec.13376
- Zanette, L., P. Doyle, and S. M. Trémont (2000). Food shortage in small fragments: evidence from an area-sensitive passerine. *Ecology* 81:1654–1666. doi:10.1890/0012-9658(2000)081[1654:FSISFE]2.0.CO;2